#### No. 44710-0-II

# IN THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

## RAYMOND S. REYNOLDSON

Appellant.

# APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF PIERCE COUNTY

Cause No. 06-1-01238-2

#### **OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

BRETT A. PURTZER WSB #17283 CASEY M. ARBENZ WSB #40581

HESTER LAW GROUP, INC., P.S. Attorneys for Appellant 1008 South Yakima Avenue, Suite 302 Tacoma, Washington 98405 (253) 272-2157

## **

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Procedural History

On March 15, 2006, Mr. Reynoldson, Appellant herein, was charged by way of information with one count of kidnapping in the first degree, one count of attempted rape in the first degree, and one count of assault in the second degree. CP 1-2. Trial commenced and Mr. Reynoldson was found guilty as charged on October 1, 2010. 10/1/10 RP 4-5, CP 75-82. The jury also found that I and II were committed with sexual motivation. 10/1/10 RP 5, CP 83-84.

#### Prosecutorial Misconduct/Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

During closing and rebuttal argument, the prosecutor made several inappropriate remarks (that were not objected to) such as:

- "I would like to go back through at least we are all on the same page on what it is that *the State believes* that the information that was elicited from these witnesses." RP (9/29/10) 1044.
- "He tries to pull her back into the house. And *thank* God for the neighbor Deborah Tarnecki." RP (9/29/10) 1056.
- "She [the alleged victim] *told the truth.*" RP (9/29/10) 1063.
- "She [the alleged victim] told the truth as she told you the events that took place on that day while she was seated in that box for you to be able to witness and see how her demeanor as she described those events to you." RP (9/29/10) 1064.
- "So the defendant is guilty we believe that we have proven each of these elements beyond a reasonable doubt." RP (9/29/10) 1084.

- "At a minimum the rape in the the Attempted Rape in the Third Degree, but we believe that we have proven the Attempted Rape in the First Degree." Id.
- "Once you do, we believe that you should be or should have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge." RP (9/29/10) 1088.
- "What I would submit to you is that when [the alleged victim] testified to you, she was honest." RP (9/29/10) 1089.
- "She [police officer] got up there and *looked honest*." RP (9/29/10) 1090.
- "These [the state's witnesses] are *credible people*." RP (9/29/10) 1091.
- "[The alleged victim] can be believed." RP (9/29/10) 1123.
- "She [the alleged victim] didn't come in here with any false pretenses. She told you like it was."

RP (9/29/10) 1125.

#### **Public Trial Violation**

During the state's closing argument, the prosecutor stopped the argument and asked, "Your Honor, can I address the court for just a moment?" The judge responded, "at sidebar?" to which the prosecutor said "yes." The record reflects a sidebar conference occurred at that point; what was discussed was never revealed. RP (9/29/10) 1053; see also RP (9/29/10) 1128.

#### Juror Misconduct

The jury was polled after the verdict and all jurors confirmed the verdict. RP 10/1/2010 at 6. Then, minutes later, juror Linda Ortiz called

the judge's judicial assistant and complained that she believed the verdict was erroneous; that she felt browbeat and coerced by the other jurors to return the guilty verdict. CP at 346. Importantly, within Ms. Ortiz's affidavit, she explained statements made by jurors surrounding Mr. Reynoldson's prior crimes and the need for him to be "locked up." Specifically, in her declaration, Ms. Ortiz stated:

There was discussion between several jurors who opined about how many other times Mr. Reynoldson may have done this and gotten away with it. There also was reference to the necessity of his being locked up.

CP at 342.

No evidence of Mr. Reynoldson's "prior crimes" was mentioned during his trial. See RP's generally.

On November 10, 2010, the Court ordered a new trial pursuant to CrR 7.5, finding that the juror committed misconduct when she lied during the verdict poll. CP at 360. The state appealed this finding on November 10, 2010. CP at 362. In a published opinion filed May 30, 2012, this Court found that the trial court erred when it considered the juror's affidavit. CP at 373 – 381. This Court clearly stated that:

Therefore, the sole question before us is whether we may consider the juror's statements in her affidavit that she lied when she was polled.

CP at 376.

This Court reversed the trial court's grant of a new trial and remanded for reinstatement of the verdict. CP at 381. Mr. Reynoldson

was thereafter sentenced to life in prison as a persistent offender pursuant to RCW 9.94A.570. See Judgment and Sentence; CP at 398-411.

#### B. Facts

At trial, the state contended Mr. Reynoldson picked up a prostitute, D.M., and, after paying her \$50.00 for oral and vaginal sex, kidnapped, raped and assaulted her. RP (9/29/10) 1043-1092. During trial, D.M. admitted she began smoking crack and taking heroin in 1995. RP (9/22/10) 721–722. She also began prostituting herself to pay for the drugs. Id. at 723. According to D.M. she completed substance abuse treatment in 1999 and has "been clean ever since." Id. at 722. Despite that sworn statement, at Mr. Reynoldson's trial, D.M. testified that on March 17, 2000 she was working as a prostitute, had a crack pipe in her pocket, and was high on heroin when she was picked up by Mr. Reynoldson by the McDonald's on 6<sup>th</sup> Ave in Tacoma. RP 727 –737. She later admitted during cross-examination that she was still using drugs after treatment in 1999. RP 795.

As it related to the incident with Mr. Reynoldson, D.M. admitted her memory was "cloudy." <u>Id</u>. at 737-738. She admitted smoking crack makes a person paranoid, but denied she was smoking crack – despite the fact that she was carrying a crack pipe. <u>Id</u>. at 795-796. She told police she was "hitchhiking" on the corner of 6<sup>th</sup> and Tacoma when she was picked up. <u>Id</u>. at 796. She told police that after being picked up, Mr. Reynoldson asked her if she would mind if they stopped at his house to pick something

up. <u>Id</u>. at 798. At trial, she admitted that statement was untruthful. <u>Id</u>.

Following the alleged incident she made a hand-written statement to police. Within the statement she stated that she entered Mr. Reynoldson's house through the back door. <u>Id</u>. At trial she denied making the statement until confronted with it. <u>Id</u>. As it related to her written statement, D.M. stated, "I will be honest this was fabricated...," and "Okay, but it is not true. Everything was all garbled." <u>Id</u>. at 800; 801. She also told police that as soon as she entered the house, Mr. Reynoldson walked her to the bedroom and threw her down on to the bed. <u>Id</u> at 801. She admitted at trial that statement was untruthful. She told police that she worked for Multicare, but that statement was untruthful as well. <u>Id</u>. at 801. D.M. testified extensively about her nipples being twisted but, just an hour later, when examined by a sexual assault nurse, she never mentioned her nipples being twisted. Id. at 756, 757, 758, 759.

During cross-examination, D.M. was asked if she went into any other rooms in the house. <u>Id</u>. at 803. She said no. <u>Id</u>. Then the following exchange took place:

Question: Isn't it true that you used the bathroom that

night?

Answer: Oh, yeah. I got a washcloth.

Ouestion: You actually asked Mr. Reynoldson where

the bathroom was; isn't that correct?

Answer: Yes. I forgot about that. That's true.

Ouestion: You also asked him for a washcloth; isn't

that correct?

Answer: Yes.

Id. at 804.

Despite all of D.M's untruthful statements, 10 years later, at Mr. Reynoldson's trial, a jury convicted Mr. Reynoldson of kidnapping, rape and assault.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

A. Mr. Reynoldson was denied a fair trial because the prosecutor committed misconduct on twelve separate occasions.

The cumulative effect of errors occurring at trial may support the grant of a new trial, even if none of the errors standing alone would justify a new trial. State v. Mark, 71 Wn.2d 295, 301, 427 P.2d 1008 (1967). Prosecutorial misconduct denies a defendant the right to a fair trial and necessitates a new trial if there is a substantial likelihood that the comments affected the verdict. State v. Echevarria, 71 Wn. App. 595, 597, 860 P.2d 420 (1993). If the misconduct implicates the constitutional rights of the defendant, however, reversal is required unless the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Easter, 130 Wn.2d 228, 242, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996). Even in the absence of an objection by the defense, reversal is still required if the remarks were so flagrant or ill-intentioned that no curative instruction could have obviated the prejudice. Echevarria, 71 Wn. App. at 597. A defendant claiming prosecutorial misconduct must establish the impropriety of the state's comments and their prejudicial effect. State v. McKenzie, 157 Wn.2d 44, 52, 134 P.3d 221 (2006).

It is well established that "the prosecutor has a special obligation to avoid 'improper suggestions, insinuations, and especially assertions of personal knowledge." <u>United States v. Roberts</u>, 618 F.2d 530, 533 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1980)(*quoting* <u>Berger v. United States</u>, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 55 S. Ct. 629 (1935)). It is improper for a prosecutor to personally vouch for or against a witness's credibility for truthfulness. <u>State v. Brett</u>, 126 Wn.2d 136, 175, 892 P.2d 29 (1995). Indeed numerous Washington cases have found misconduct where the prosecutor improperly vouched for a witness or made an explicit statement of personal opinion as to a witness's credibility. <u>See</u>, e.g., <u>State v. Allen</u>, 161 Wn.App. 727, 746, 255 P.3d 784, *review granted*, 172 Wn.2d 1014 (2011); <u>State v. Horton</u>, 116 Wn.App. 909, 921, 68 P.3d 1145 (2003).

Further, where a prosecutor explicitly or implicitly communicates his or her personal knowledge about the underlying facts of a case, he or she will be deemed to have vouched for or against the credibility of a witness.

<u>United States v. Edwards</u>, 154 F.3d 915, 921 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998). Assertions of personal knowledge run afoul of the advocate – witness rule, which prohibits attorneys from testifying in cases they are litigating. <u>Id.</u>; <u>see also</u>, RPC 3.7 cmt. 1 (recognizing that "[c]ombining the roles of advocate and witness can prejudice the tribunal and the opposing party"). Lawyers are not permitted to impart to the jury personal knowledge about an issue in the case under the guise of either direct or cross examination – or during argument – when such information is not otherwise admissible in evidence. <u>State v. Denton</u>, 58

Wn.App. 251, 257, 792 P.2d 537 (1990)(citing State v. Yoakum, 37 Wn.2d 137, 222 P.2d 181 (1950)).

Here, during closing argument and rebuttal, the prosecutor made several inappropriate remarks such as:

- "I would like to go back through at least we are all on the same page on what it is that *the State believes* that the information that was elicited from these witnesses." RP (9/29/10) 1044.
- "He tries to pull her back into the house. And *thank* God for the neighbor Deborah Tarnecki." RP (9/29/10) 1056.
- "She [the alleged victim] told the truth." RP (9/29/10) 1063.
- "She [the alleged victim] told the truth as she told you the events that took place on that day while she was seated in that box for you to be able to witness and see how her demeanor as she described those events to you." RP (9/29/10) 1064.
- "So the defendant is guilty we believe that we have proven each of these elements beyond a reasonable doubt." RP (9/29/10) 1084.
- "At a minimum the rape in the the Attempted Rape in the Third Degree, but we believe that we have proven the Attempted Rape in the First Degree." <u>Id</u>.
- "Once you do, we believe that you should be or should have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge." RP (9/29/10) 1088.
- "What I would submit to you is that when Donna [the alleged victim] testified to you, she was honest." RP (9/29/10) 1089.
- "She [police officer] got up there and *looked honest*." RP (9/29/10) 1090.

- "These [the state's witnesses] are *credible people*." RP (9/29/10) 1091.
- "Donna [the alleged victim] can be believed." RP (9/29/10) 1123.
- "She [the alleged victim] didn't come in here with any false pretenses. She told you like it was."

RP (9/29/10) 1125.

The State's numerous claims about what it "believes" – especially relating to the credibility of the alleged victim and the ultimate issue – were improper. It is well-established that a prosecutor simply cannot vouch for or against a witness's credibility. When this happened here, on no less than twelve occasions between closing and rebuttal closing, it is impossible to conclude that the prosecutor's conduct did not influence the jury. This is especially true where the entirety of the state's case hinged on the credibility of the alleged victim, D.M. By vouching for D.M.'s credibility, the prosecutor represented herself as a witness. That is improper. Therefore, respectfully, reversal is required.

B. Mr. Reynoldson's counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the numerous instances of prosecutorial misconduct.

To show ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show that (1) his or her lawyer's representation was deficient and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced him/her. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). Representation is deficient if it falls below an objective standard of reasonableness based on consideration of all the circumstances. State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d

322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Prejudice occurs when but for counsel's deficient performance, the proceeding's result would have been different. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 335. If a party fails to satisfy one prong, this Court need not consider the other. State v. Foster, 140 Wn. App. 266, 273, 166 P.3d 726, review denied, 162 Wn.2d 1007 (2007).

Courts are highly deferential to counsel's performance, that is, the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action might be considered sound trial strategy. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. Tactical decisions cannot form the basis for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 336.

Here, as noted above, the prosecutor made numerous statements vouching for the credibility of the alleged victim and other witnesses.

Defense counsel never objected to a single remark. In a trial where credibility of the witnesses was paramount, to allow the state to effectively testify that the alleged victim was a credible witness was to allow the jury to be swayed in favor of believing her.

There is no evidence or reasonable justification to contend that the decision not to object to the numerous remarks was tactical. Again, credibility was critical in this case. Nothing could be gained by allowing additional evidence and support favoring the credibility of those who testified against Mr. Reynoldson.

The second prong of the <u>Strickland</u> test requires the defendant to show prejudice – i.e. that the result of the trial would have been different

but for the ineffective representation. While this is a somewhat ambiguous and subjective standard, it is clear that in this case the credibility of the witnesses was the determinative factor. There was no physical evidence or eyewitness testimony from others besides the alleged victim to support the charges. Therefore, without independent evidence of guilt, it is clear that the result of the trial would have been different had counsel objected to each of the instances of misconduct.

C. Mr. Reynoldson's public trial rights were violated when a conference occurred at sidebar without any follow-up record stating or discussing what occurred during that instance of courtroom closure.

Both Article I § 22 of the Washington State Constitution and the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantee a criminal defendant a "public trial by an impartial jury." Additionally, Article I § 10 of the Washington Constitution provides that "[j]ustice in all cases shall be administered openly," thereby protecting the defendant and the public's interest in open, accessible proceedings. Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa, 97 Wn.2d 30, 36, 640 P.2d 716 (1982). "The public trial right is not absolute but may be overcome to serve an overriding interest based on findings that closure is essential and narrowly tailored to preserve higher values. Waller v. Georgia, 467 U.S. 39, 45, 104 S.Ct. 2210 (1984).

Accordingly, the public trial right can only be overcome if courtroom closure is necessary to serve "an overriding interest <u>based on findings</u> that closure is essential and narrowly tailored to preserve higher values." <u>State v. Lormor</u>, No.84319-8, 2011 WL 2899578, at 4 (Wash.

July 21, 2011). Specifically, when seeking to conduct a portion of a trial outside the presence of the public, the Court is required to consider the following factors on the record:

- 1. The proponent of closure must make some showing [of a compelling interest], and where that need is based on a right other than an accused's right to a fair trial, the proponent must show a 'serious and imminent threat' to that right;
- 2. Anyone present when the closure motion is made must be given an opportunity to object to the closure;
- 3. The proposed method for curtailing open access must be the least restrictive means available for protecting the threatened interests;
- 4. The court must weigh the competing interests of the proponent of closure and the public; and
- 5. The order must be no broader in its application or duration than necessary to serve its purpose.

State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 257, 906 P.2d 325 (1995) (quoting Allied Daily Newspapers of Wash. V. Eikenberry, 121 Wn.2d 205, 210-11, 848 P.2d 1258 (1993)).

Because courtroom closures affect the very integrity of a proceeding, in instances where Article I § 10 is violated, the remedy is a new, open trial – regardless of whether the complaining party can show prejudice. In re Det. Of D.F.F., 172 Wn.2d 37, 42, 256 P.3d 357 (2011). This is because "a courtroom closure bears the hallmarks of structural error. Id (citing State v. Momah, 167 Wn.2d 140, 148, 217 P.3d 321 (2009)(in the context of a criminal trial, "[a]n error is structural when it

'necessarily render[s] a criminal trial fundamentally unfair or an unreliable vehicle for determining guilt or innocence." (second alteration in original (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Washington v. Recuenco, 548 U.S. 212, 218-19, 126 S.Ct. 2546, 165 L.Ed 466 (2006))).

In <u>Lormor</u>, a case recently decided by our Supreme Court, the defendant's daughter was removed from the courtroom during her father's trial. <u>State v. Lormor</u>, 172 Wn.2d 85, 257 P.3d 624 (2011). The daughter was only four years-old, was very sick and thus required a noisy respirator to breathe. <u>Id</u>. The Supreme Court upheld the trial court's decision to remove the daughter based on the fact that her respirator constituted a "distraction," but emphasized that her removal was justified because "the trial court judge gave reasons on the record for the removal." <u>Id</u>.

Similarly, in another recently decided Supreme Court case, <u>In re</u>

<u>Det. of D.F.F.</u>, 172 Wn.2d 37, 256 P.3d 357 (2011), the Court held that the defendant's involuntary commitment proceedings were unconstitutional because the judge closed the proceedings to the public. <u>Id</u>. The Court reversed the finding that the defendant should be committed and held that she was entitled to a new set of proceedings. <u>Id</u>. In reaching the decision, the Court cited the five "<u>Bone-Club</u> factors" and stated:

This is not the first case where this court has granted a new trial when a trial court closed proceedings without considering the five requirements to permit an exception to the open administration of justice right under article I, section 10 or the right to a public trial under article I, section 22. See Easterling, 157 Wn.2d at 171 ("We conclude that the trial court committed an error of constitutional magnitude when it directed that

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