A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF

ERROR. 

1. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct when she argued

reasonable inferences from the evidence in closing and
rebuttal arguments? 

2, Was counsel for defendant ineffective for not

objecting more during the State' s closing and
rebuttal arguments? 

3. Did a brief sidebar during the State' s closing constitute a
closed courtroom? 

4. Has the issue of possible misconduct by a juror already
been subject to appellate review and is therefore the law of

the case?

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

honesty and accuracy of Sheskey so that the jury accepts the officer' s

testimony regarding the victim' s untruthful statements. 

Defendant did not object to this comment. If this Court were to

decide the comment improper, from the context, it is clear it is not flagrant

and ill - intentioned. Just as the court responded earlier, any prejudice

clearly could have been adequately addressed with a curative instructive. 

h. RP 1091 " These are credible people." 

Context: 

You heard from Tonya Bloomstine, who treated D.M.; 

from Brett Reynoldson, who was a bit reluctant to tell you

that his father was actually staying in the home, but did; 
former Detective Ed Baker came in to talk to you; and you

also heard from Detective Miller about his actions. Each

one of these people provided you with the information that

they had so that you can make a decision. These are
credible people. The testimony that they gave [ sic] is in line
with the evidence that you have - -has been submitted to

you. 

12 RP 1091. Though again, perhaps not artfully worded, the context

demonstrates that the cited witnesses have no relationship to the victim

and therefore can be viewed as unbiased witnesses. In the case of

defendant' s son, he is not a witness likely to be helpful to the State. When

viewing each of these witnesses, the argument is that they appeared, 

simply told what they knew, with no known reason to be untruthful or

dishonest, and therefore can be believed. 
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Defendant did not object and therefore waived his objection. Even

if this Court were to find the comment improper, it is not flagrant and ill - 

intentioned. Any alleged prejudice to appellant could easily have been

cured by a curative instruction. 

i. RP 1123 " fThe victim] can be believed." 

The victim] can be believed. She told you that she lied. 

She came in here and told you that. She told you the

reasons why. She told you that she was ashamed. She told
you to the best of her ability her memory, what it was that
took place. 

12 RP 1123. The State is not vouching for the victim' s credibility. The

prosecutor is not telling the jury her personal opinion or otherwise saying

that because of her role as a prosecutor, the victim should be believed. 

Instead the prosecutor is giving the jury reasons by referring to the

testimony why the victim can be believed. This is proper argument. This

is precisely what is meant when it is said that prosecutors are given wide

latitude in closing argument to draw inferences from the evidence and may

freely comment on the witness credibility based on the evidence. State v. 

Allen, 161 Wn. App. 727, 746, 255 P. 3d 784, affirmed, 176 Wn.2d 611, 

294 P. 3d 679 ( 2013). Furthermore, this comment and the one that follows, 

were both made in the State' s rebuttal argument and are responses to

statements made by defendant' s counsel in closing. Prosecutorial

remarks, even if improper, are not grounds for reversal if invited by
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defense counsel or if they are a pertinent reply to defense counsel' s

argument. State v. Carver, 122 Wn. App. 300, 307, 93 P. 3d 947 ( 2004). 

Examples of defendant' s closing remarks include: 

She made up most of her testimony, I would submit to you. 
She told the officers that night that she was hitchhiking. 

12 RP 1103. 

These are all of the lies that she made up within minutes, 
ladies and gentlemen, of going out the window because we
heard the testimony of the police. They came within
minutes. She makes all of this stuff up. If she can make up
all of this stuff that quickly, it's pretty clear that she knows
how to lie. 

12 RP 1104. 

Now, all these things show that she has a strong motive to
lie, ladies and gentlemen. If she was charged with

prostitution, she has a problem. With somebody who has
been living a life of prostitution for as long as she has, she
probably had experiences of being arrested in the past, and
she didn't like it. 

Now, is the testimony of this admitted liar testimony that
you can find beyond a reasonable doubt that these offenses

happened? I would submit to you that it's not. If you look

at, prostitution is living a lie. 

12 RP 1107. And lastly, 

She has selective memory. She lies. She lies when has to. 
She lies when she has to get out of trouble. She is living a
life of lies. She can't be believed or trusted. 

12 RP 1113 -14. 
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It is apparent that the State's comments in rebuttal are direct

responses to defendant' s unabashed reference to the victim being a liar. 

Again there was no objection. Defendant cannot show this

comment was so flagrant and ill- intentioned that it could not have been

addressed by a curative instruction. 

j. 12 RP 1125 " She told you like it was." 

She had the crack pipe on her. She didn't deny that. She
told you that morning that she had taken heroin. She told
you that she had a crack pipe in her possession. She told

you that she didn't use it. There is no reason for her to lie

about that one piece. She could have said, yes, I used it

along with the heroin. She told you like it was. 

12 RP 1124 -25. It is unlikely had defense objected to this comment, that it

would have been sustained. Both on its face and in context, it is evident

the State is citing to testimony in support of her argument that the victim

admitted to a number of embarrassing or inculpating facts. The inference

clearly being that her willingness to do so is indicative of her truthfulness. 

This argument is based upon the evidence elicited and is not improper. 

Defendant did not object to this comment and as stated above, it is

unlikely that defendant could support an argument that it would have been

sustained. In any event, defendant cannot demonstrate that a curative

instructive would have been insufficient and that the comment was

flagrant and ill- intended. 
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2. COUNSEL FOR DEFENDANT WAS NOT

INEFFECTIVE FOR NOT OBJECTING MORE

DURING THE STATE' S CLOSING AND

REBUTTAL ARGUMENTS. 

Counsel' s decisions regarding whether and when to object " fall

firmly within the category of strategic or tactical decisions." State v. 

Johnston, 143 Wn. App. 1, 19, 177 P. 3d 1127 ( 2007). The failure to

object constitutes counsel incompetence justifying reversal only in

egregious circumstances on testimony central to the State' s case. State v. 

Johnston, 143 Wn. App. at 19. Even if the defendant shows deficient

performance, he then must establish prejudice by showing that there is a

reasonable probability that, but for counsel' s deficient performance, the

outcome of the proceedings would have differed. State v. Grier, 171

Wn.2d 17, 34, 246 P. 3d 1260 ( 2011). 

To establish that counsel' s failure to object to evidence constituted

ineffective assistance, Jones must show that ( 1) counsel' s failure to object

fell below prevailing professional norms, ( 2) the trial court would have

sustained the objection if counsel actually had made it, and ( 3) the result

of the trial would have differed if the trial court excluded the evidence. 

State v. Sexsmith, 138 Wn. App. 497, 509, 157 P. 3d 901 ( 2007), review

denied, 163 Wn.2d 1014 ( 2008). " The test of the skill and competency of

counsel is: After considering the entire record, was the accused afforded a
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fair trial[ ?]" State v. Lei, 59 Wn.2d 1, 6, 365 P. 2d 609 ( 1961). Appellant

must show that ' there is no conceivable legitimate tactic explaining

counsel' s performance. ' Grier, 171 Wn.2d at 33 ( quoting State v. 

Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P. 3d 80 ( 2004)). One

conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel' s performance could exist

if counsel did not want to risk emphasizing the damaging testimony with

an objection. State v. Donald, 68 Wn. App. 543, 551, 844 P. 2d 447, 

review denied, 121 Wn.2d 1024 ( 1993). 

First, as outlined with each challenged comment, most, if not all, 

of the State' s comments do not constitute improper vouching of a witness. 

Therefore, an objection would not have been proper. Second, defendant

must demonstrate that the trial court would have sustained the objection. 

Given the court' s response to counsel' s objection, defendant cannot

support this requirement. Third, even if a statement were to be found

improper, one could reasonably argue that it was a reasonable strategy or

tactic. Lastly, given the substantial corroborating evidence admitted in

this case, defendant cannot meaningfully support an argument that, but for

the State' s comments in closing, the result of the trial would have been

different. 

Defendant received the effective assistance of counsel. 
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3. A BRIEF SIDEBAR DURING THE STATE' S

CLOSING DID NOT CONSTITUTE A CLOSED

COURTROOM. 

The following exchange took place not long into the

State' s closing argument: 

STATE: Your Honor, can I address the court for just a

moment? 

THE COURT: At sidebar? 

STATE: : Yes. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

Sidebar) 

THE COURT: Okay, Ms. Ahrens, please continue. 

STATE: As I'm talking, ladies and gentlemen, I want you
to feel free to, just like throughout trial, that if you feel like

you may be nodding off or if you are uncomfortable, you
get up and move around and stretch your legs, if you need
to. I have a lot to talk about. I don't want to bore you, but

there are things that I want to make sure that I want to

cover. If for some reason you need to kind of jolt your

bodies, please feel free to do that. 

12 RP 1053. 

From the context, one might conclude that the subject matter of the

sidebar may have had to do with a drowsy juror. However, the record is

silent as to what transpired at sidebar. Not every interaction between the

court, counsel and the defendants will implicate the right to a public trial, 

or constitute a closure if closed to the public. State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d
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58, 71, 292 P. 3d 715 ( 2012). The Sublett court introduced the " experience

and logic" test to address the issue of a violation of the public trial right. 

Id. Both prongs of the experience and logic test must be met to implicate

the constitutional right. 

The appellate court is confined to the record to determine the

nature of the alleged closure. Here, the record only shows that a sidebar

occurred at the State' s request. 12 RP 1053. There is no further

information as to what was discussed. The record is not adequate to allow

this court to make a meaningful determination as to whether the public

trial right was even implicated. 

Recently this court held that the attorneys' exercise of peremptory

challenges during side bar did not violate the right to a public trial. State

v. Dunn, (WL 1379172) Div. 2, Apr. 2014. Division 3 has held that

neither prong of the experience and logic test suggests that the exercise of

cause or peremptory challenges must take place in public. State v. Love, 

176 Wn. App. 911, 920, 309 P. 3d 1209 ( 2013). 

These two recent cases clearly indicate that brief sidebar events do

not support a finding that the constitutional right of a public courtroom is

implicated. Given the very brief exchange, there is nothing in the record

to indicate that any argument was taken, nor any ruling made. There is
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nothing to indicate that an event meaningful to the overall trial occurred. 

Therefore based upon the record and case law, this claim must fail. 

4. THE ISSUE OF POSSIBLE MISCONDUCT BY A

JUROR HAS ALREADY BEEN SUBJECT TO

APPELLATE REVIEW AND IS THE LAW OF

THE CASE. 

Defendant relies on an affidavit submitted by a juror to allege the

jury relied on extraneous information. Opening Brf. App., P. 19. This

Court has already ruled that the juror' s affidavit should not be considered. 

State v. Reynoldson, 168 Wn. App. 543, 544, 277 P. 3d 700 ( 2012), review

denied 175 Wn.2d 1019, 290 P. 3d 994 ( 2012). It should not be considered

at this time either. This court cited State v. Gay, 82 Wash. 423, 144 P. 711

1914) as a case on point with the issues in this case. 

T] he matters stated in the affidavit are matters inhering
in the verdict, and cannot be received to impeach the

verdict. 

Gay, 82 Wash. at 438. The Court continued, 

The rule is of universal acceptance that jurymen will not be

permitted to impeach their own verdict, and thus declare

their own perjury, for one oath would but offset the other. 
Both public decency and public policy alike demand the
rejection of such testimony. 

Gay, 82 Wash. at 438. 

The juror' s affidavit is precisely what is precluded by law from

being considered as grounds for a new trial. The juror clearly included
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statements made by jurors during deliberation. Such testimony cannot be

used to set aside a verdict. Gardner v. Malone, 60 Wn.2d 836, 841, 376

P. 2d 651 ( 1962). This claim must fail. 

Furthermore, this is another attempt to relitigate an issue already

conclusively decided by this court. The doctrine of the law of the case

precludes re- addressing this issue. Cloaking the issue slightly differently

does not change the evaluation. 

Under the law of the case doctrine, " once there is an appellate

court ruling, its holding must be followed in all of the subsequent stages of

the same litigation. State v. Schwab, 163 Wn.2d. 664, 672, 185 P. 3d 1151

2008) citing Roberson v. Perez, 156 Wn.2d 33, 41, 123 P. 3d 844 ( 2005). 

An appellate court has discretion to revisit a prior appeal if "the prior

decision was clearly erroneous, and the erroneous decision would work a

manifest injustice to one party." Roberson v. Perez, 156 Wn.2d at 42. 

Defendant has made no showing that the May, 2012 published opinion is

clearly erroneous. Furthermore, there has been no subsequent case that

has changed the applicable law. 

RAP 2. 5( c)( 2) provides that if the same case is again before the

appellate court, ifjustice would be best served, the Court may decide the

case on the status of the law at the time of later appellate review. Here, 

justice would not be best served by revisiting its opinion of 2012. 
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Defendant has neither argued nor demonstrated that current law, but two

years later, has changed such that it would require a different result. 

Lastly, if this Court is inclined to consider this issue the State

asserts the affidavit does not support defendant' s argument. The juror

affidavit that was submitted by trial counsel does not state that a juror was

informed of defendant' s prior convictions. The affidavit itself says, 

S] everal jurors...opined about how many times [ defendant] 
may have done this and gotten away with it. 

CP 342. 

This declaration was done under penalty of perjury wherein the

juror admitted that she lied to the trial court not once, but twice when the

jury was polled, causing a question about the juror' s credibility. Second, 

nowhere in this statement or declaration, does the juror say that the jury

learned or otherwise saw any information indicating appellant had prior

convictions. The jury was not aware the defendant was being tried as a

persistent offender. If they did not know, they would not presume

defendant had any prior convictions. Defendant has not pointed to any

evidence whatsoever that any juror was ever exposed to any extrinsic

information or evidence. 

For the reasons stated above, this claim must fail. 
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D. CONCLUSION. 

The prosecutor did not commit misconduct when she argued the

reasonable inferences from the evidence in her closing and rebuttal

arguments. Defendant did not object to eleven of the twelve challenged

statements. He cannot demonstrate that the challenged statements would

necessarily have been sustained. Additionally, defendant cannot support

the contention that any possible improper statement could not have been

successfully addressed by a curative instruction. Lastly, the record does

not support a conclusion that any of the statements were flagrant and ill - 

intentioned. This argument fails. 

Trial counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to each of the

challenged statements. Counsel did object and the court overruled his

objection declaring the jury was instructed that counsel' s statements are

not evidence. There is no obligation to make futile objections. There

clearly were tactically considerations in making objections during closing

argument. This argument also fails. 

A brief sidebar during the State' s closing argument did not amount

to a closed courtroom. Recent case law clearly indicates that such

exchanges at sidebar do not necessarily implicate the public trial right. 

Furthermore, the record in this case contains no information or context
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regarding what was discussed, therefore the record precludes the court

from reaching this issue. This claim fails. 

The issue regarding the actions of the jurors has been litigated and

is controlled by the law of the case doctrine. The defendant cannot

support any reason why the opinion of this court two years ago should not

control. Furthermore, defendant has not produced any support in the

record that the jury was aware of, or otherwise exposed to, any evidence

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